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independent consumers.  Compl. ¶¶ 82–83; 122–23.  The plaintiffs also alleged that 

CoreLogic received “funds that are proceeds of . . . [LeadClick’s] unlawful acts and 

practices,” even though it had no legitimate claim to those funds and would be unjustly 
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defendant, it had a legitimate claim to all money that it received, and it was not the 

immediate recipient of the money transferred from LeadClick as moot.1 

 For the reasons that follow, plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 

292) is granted, LeadClick’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 294) is denied, 

CoreLogic’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 299) is denied, and the 
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products through websites it owned and operated.  Pls.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 9.  It 
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Internet traffic to those offers on merchants’ websites.”  Id. ¶ 14.  By gathering a variety 

of merchant offerings, such a network is desirable because it “allows publishers to more 

easily find and participate in advertising for particular merchants” which, in turn, “allows 

online merchants to reach more publishers and thereby a larger audience.”  Pls.’ Rule 

56(a)2 Statement ¶ 7.  

 Affiliates promote merchants’ goods or services in various ways, including e-mail 

marketing, banner advertisements, and search-engine placement.  Id. ¶ 6.  They also 

create their own webpages to advertise merchants’ businesses.  Id.  Of course, critical 

to any affiliate marketing technique is a “technical mechanism by which an interested 

consumer’s ‘click’ on a publisher’s advertisement can be tracked and routed to a 

merchant’s website.”  Id.  For this reason, LeadClick contracted with “WebApps, LLC to 

use WebApp’s proprietary, affiliate marketing software platform called HitPath.”  Defs.’ 

Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 18.  HitPath allowed LeadClick’s eAdvertising Network “to 

track the flow of traffic from each individual affiliate’s marketing website to each 

individual merchant’s website.”  Id.  ¶ 19. 

 In support of the eAdvertising Network, LeadClick employed affiliate managers to 

manage relationships with affiliates.  Id. ¶ 22.  Similarly, it employed account managers 

to manage relationships with merchants.  Id. ¶ 23.  In 2010 and 2011, eAdvertising had 

three affiliate managers.  See id. ¶ 24.  Among other things, affiliate managers were 

tasked with finding new affiliates.  See id. ¶ 
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LeanSpa on a given action, and it paid the rest to the affiliate.  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 

Statement ¶ 38; Pls.’ Rule 56(a)(2) Statement ¶ 12.7 

  3. Fake News Sites 

 In promoting LeanSpa products through the eAdvertising Network, some affiliate 

marketers used “fake news sites.”  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 109–11.  At the 

time, these fake news sites were fairly common in the affiliate marketing industry, and 

they had been in use for some time before LeanSpa hired LeadClick.  See Pls.’ Rule 

56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 19, 25; Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 133–35.  Characteristic of 

these fake news sites were: claims of independent testing and analysis; statements 

about weight loss results; comments that appeared to be offered by independent 

consumers; the name of a reporter; and logos of genuine news organization.  See Defs.’ 

Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 110–11 (citing PX 59, 60, 61).  In fact, there was no such 

independent testing, independent consumer comments, or association with news 

organizations.  See id.  

 While the parties fiercely dispute the legal implications of LeadClick’s conduct 

with respect to fake news pages, there appea
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apply in order to join its eAdvertising Network, and it would then decide which of the 

applicants to accept.  See id. ¶ 97.  Despite this knowledge and the ability to deny 

applicants, see id. ¶¶ 97, 132–40, LeadClick hired affiliates who used fake news pages 

to promote LeanSpa.  See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 109–11.  At least some LeadClick employees 

were aware that affiliates were using fake news pages on eAdvertising.  Id. ¶¶ 134–37.  

LeadClick staff occasionally discussed fake article pages, fake news pages, or “news 

style” pages among themselves and with affiliates and merchants.  Id. ¶¶ 138, 142–45.  

On some occasions, LeadClick allowed or, at least, failed to object to the use of fake 

news pages.  See id. ¶¶ 137–40.8 

 In certain regards, LeadClick employees’ knowledge of fake news sites was more 

specific than a mere general awareness of their existence.  For example, some fake 

news sites paired “Step 1” and “Step 2” products, which together comprised the weight 

loss program being reviewed by the supposed news reporter.  See id. ¶ 136.  

“LeadClick employees referred to ‘Step 1’ and ‘Step 2’ when discussing product pairings 

on affiliates’ websites.”  Id. ¶ 137.  LeadClick staffs’ references to Step 1 and Step 2 

were made in conversations with LeanSpa and with affiliates.  See id.  In one instance, 

Mizhen instructed Chiang to have eAdvertising affiliates use a certain Step 1 and Step 2 

product pairing.  See id. (citing PX 22, Chiang Dep. 58:7–60:8; PX 30, Chiang Ex. 8).  In 

another, a LeadClick employee and an affiliate discussed the affiliate’s Step 1 and Step 

2 product pairing.  See id. (citing PX 111, at LCM22108, 22110); see also id. (citing PX 

                                            
 
 8 LeadClick argues that the ultimate decision to use fake news pages to advertise was made by 
merchants like LeanSpa.  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 140. 
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 LeadClick also engaged in “media buying,” which entailed purchasing advertising 

space for its merchants and affiliates.  See id. ¶¶ 150–67.  Indeed, when LeadClick 

contacted Mizhen to solicit business from LeanSpa, the account manager referred to 

LeadClick’s media buying as a way to “generat[e] quality traffic in very lucrative 

placements.”  See id. ¶ 167 (citing PX 45 at LCM 28646).10  As part of its media buying 

effort, LeadClick approached media sellers, including genuine news outlets, and 

negotiated the purchases of media space for banner ads.  See id. ¶¶ 158, 161.  After 

LeadClick purchased media space, it would resell such space to others, including 

affiliate publishers, at a profit.  See id. ¶ 159.  Some of this media space contained 

banner advertisements linking to fake news pages that promoted LeanSpa’s products.  

See id. ¶¶ 151, 157.  “Sometimes LeadClick identified fake news sites as destination 

pages for the banner advertisements when negotiating with media sellers,” and 

“sometimes it identified the destination webpage by emailing the media seller a 

compressed version of the affiliate’s page” or by providing the web address for the 

destination page  Id. ¶¶ 152–54.11  When it resold media space to affiliates, in at least 

some cases, it withheld the identity of the media seller. 12  See id. ¶ 160.  At certain 

times, including late 2010 and early 2011, LeadClick spent between $1 and $2 million 

                                            
 
 10 LeadClick denies that this supports an inference that it “touted” its media buying capabilities, 
but it does not deny the fact that this e-mail was sent or its contents.  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 
167.  
 
 11 LeadClick states that the “[d]estination pages for any advertisements were identified, created 
and within the sole control of LeadClick’s customer-advertiser, not LeadClick.”  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 
Statement ¶¶ 152–
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on media buying per month.  See id. ¶ 162.  Media space was purchased in units of 

1,000 displays, and LeadClick typically “paid in the order of $4 or less per 1,000 

showings.”  See id. ¶¶ 163–64. 

 In addition to LeadClick’s activities related to affiliate marketing, plaintiffs also 

argue that LeadClick’s role in helping LeanSpa to overcome its financial woes 

contributed to a violation of Section 5 and CUTPA.  VISA placed LeanSpa in one of its 

merchant monitoring programs because of the amount of charges that were being 

disputed by consumers.  See id. ¶ 50.  These disputed charges are known as 

“chargebacks.”  See id.  Three United States-based banks terminated LeanSpa’s 

merchant accounts and stopped processing sales for LeanSpa because of its excessive 

level of chargebacks.  See id. ¶ 51.  Certain LeadClick officials “understood that credit 

card associations monitor chargeback rates and that merchants were subject to a 

chargeback ceiling of 1% of sales.”  Id. ¶ 170.  Some officials at LeadClick knew that 

LeanSpa was having issues with chargebacks.  See id. ¶ 171.  Indeed, Mizhen 

communicated to LeadClick “what need[ed] to be done in order to ‘outgrow [LeanSpa’s] 

last month’s chargebacks.”  See id. ¶ 172 (quoting PX 48, Olsen Dep. 102:9–11).13  

LeadClick admits that it “upon occasion made additional publishers aware of LeanSpa 

campaigns in response to LeanSpa requests for higher traffic levels.”  Id. ¶ 174.14 

                                            
 
 13 LeadClick denies plaintiffs’ statement that LeadClick “adjusted the amount of Internet traffic it 
generated for LeanSpa through the eAdvertising Network, at LeanSpa’s request, for the admitted purpose 
of diluting LeanSpa’s chargeback ratio.”  However, it supports this denial solely with a citation to Jaime 
Olsen’s testimony, which includes Olsen’s explanat
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 Further, Chiang, a Vice President at LeadClick who oversaw eAdvertising and its 

staff, knew that First Bank of Delaware (“FBOD”) was LeanSpa’s credit card processing 

bank.  See id. ¶¶ 25–26, 177–78.  Mizhen informed Chiang that FBOD would no longer 

service LeanSpa’s merchant account, temporarily in January 2011 and permanently in 

April 2011.  See id. ¶ 178.  Mizhen eventually asked Chiang for assistance with offshore 

credit processing.  See id. ¶ 179 (citing PX 22, Chiang Dep. 106:2–107:7).  Chiang 

agreed to help Mizhen find a new credit card processor and, after searching through his 

contacts, he introduced alternate processors to Mizhen.  See id. ¶¶ 180–82.  Mizhen 

ultimately replaced FBOD with CCHain Process, which was an offshore processor that 

Chiang had introduced to him.  Id. ¶ 182. 

 Despite these issues, LeanSpa eventually became LeadClick’s top producer.  Id. 

¶ 66.  LeadClick’s billings to LeanSpa increased from over $30,000 in September 2010 

to over $2,000,000 in December 2010.  Id. ¶ 62.  However, as LeadClick’s billings 

increased, LeanSpa’s debt to LeadClick grew.  Id. ¶¶ 59, 63–65.  Because of this 

growing balance, “LeadClick’s finance director recommended that LeanSpa ‘be 

immediately shutoff or go on prepay-plus payment plan.’”  Id. ¶ 59.  LeadClick made 

efforts to collect the balance that LeanSpa owed it in order to make money for itself.  Id. 

¶ 61.  Despite these efforts, LeanSpa owed LeadClick $6.4 million by March 2011 and 

around $10 million by June 2011.  Id. ¶¶ 63–64.  LeadClick continued to conduct 

business with LeanSpa in order to collect payments from it.  Id. ¶ 66.  Ultimately, from 

September 2010 through June 2011, LeadClick billed LeanSpa $22 million in business, 

                                                                                                                                             
 
 14 While LeadClick denies that it, “on a regular basis, actively recruited more affiliate marketers to 
the LeanSpa campaigns when Mizhen reported an immediate need to surge traffic in order to reduce his 
chargeback ratio by month’s end,” it cites no evidence in support of its denial.  See id. ¶ 174.  
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but LeanSpa only paid $11.9 million of it.  Id. ¶ 68.  Despite the fact that LeanSpa’s debt 
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 In late September 2011, CoreLogic’s Board of Directors voted to cease 

LeadClick’s operations.  FTC Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 32.  “The decision to close 

LeadClick’s Mechanics Bank account was unrelated to and independent of the later 

decision to close LeadClick.”  Id. ¶ 34. 

 In 2008, the predecessor-in-interest to CLUSI “entered into a promissory note 

and loan agreement with LeadClick under which [CLUSI’s predecessor] agreed to lend 

LeadClick up to $15.7 million on a revoloving basis.”  Id. ¶¶ 49–50.  As of August 2011, 

LeadClick still owed CLUSI $8 million in principal under that note and agreement.    Id. ¶ 

51. 

III. STANDARD 

 A motion for summary judgment “may properly be granted . . . only where there is 

no genuine issue of material fact to be tried, and the facts as to which there is no such 

issue warrant judgment for the moving party as a matter of law.”  In Re Dana Corp., 574 

F.3d 129, 151 (2d Cir. 2009).  “[T]he moving party bears the burden of showing that he 

or she is entitled to summary judgment.”  United Transp. Union v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger 

Corp., 588 F.3d 805, 809 (2d Cir. 2009).  Once the moving party has satisfied that 

burden, in order to defeat the motion, “the party opposing summary judgment . . . must 

set forth ‘specific facts' demonstrating that there is ‘a genuine issue for trial.’”  Wright v. 

Goord, 554 F .3d 255, 266 (2d Cir. 2009) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)).  “A dispute 

about a ‘genuine issue’ exists for summary judgment purposes where the evidence is 

such that a reasonable jury could decide in the non-movant's favor.”  Beyer v. Cnty. of 

Nassau, 524 F.3d 160, 163 (2d Cir. 2008) (quoting Guilbert v. Gardner, 480 F.3d 140, 

145 (2d Cir. 2007)). 
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IV. DISCUSSION 

 The instant Motions require the court to address the following issues: (1) 

LeadClick’s liability under the FTCA and CUTPA; (2) immunity under Section 230 of the 

Communications Decency Act; (3) the plaintiffs’ ability to obtain remedies under Section 

13(b) of the FTCA; and (4) CoreLogic’s liability as a relief defendant. 

 A. Liability Under The FTCA and CUTPA 

 The plaintiffs argue that LeadClick engaged in deceptive marketing practices in 

violation of Section 5 and CUTPA.  Pls.’ Mem. Supp. Summ. J. (Doc. No. 304) at 29.  

LeadClick argues that it did not directly violate the FTCA or CUTPA and that there is no 

aiding and abetting liability under that statute.  See Defs.’ Mem. Opp. (Doc. No. 312) at 

6; Defs.’ Mem. Supp. (Doc. No. 295) at 15.16     

 Section 5 of the FTCA prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or 

affecting commerce.”  15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1).  The tests for determining liability for 

deception under Section 5 of the FTCA and CUTPA are virtually identical, and they are 

both well-established.17  “To prove a deceptive act or practice under § 5(a)(1), the FTC 

must show three elements: [1] a representation, omission, or practice, that [2] is likely to 

mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstance, and [3], the 

representation, omission, or practice is material.”  F.T.C. v. Verity Int'l, Ltd., 443 F.3d 48, 

63 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted); Caldor, Inc. v. Heslin, 215 Conn. 

590, 597 (1990) (noting that “federal courts have determined that an act or practice is 

deceptive if three requirements are met,” and stating those elements).   

                                            
 
 16 The plaintiffs do not argue that LeadClick aided and abetted the deception of others. 
  
 17 The plaintiffs do not pursue an unfairness theory.  
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  1. The Fake News Sites Were Deceptive 

 The court first addresses whether, based on the undisputed evidence, the fake 

news sites used to promote LeanSpa products were “likely to mislead consumers acting 

reasonably under the circumstance” as a matter of law.  The court first addresses 

whether the fake news sites made the representations alleged by the plaintiffs, and then 

whether those claims are deceptive.   

   i. Claims Made by the Sites 
 
 To determine whether an advertisement makes a certain claim, a court may look 

to the representation itself or to extrinsic evidence.  See F.T.C. v. Bronson Partners, 

LLC, 564 F. Supp. 2d 119, 125 (D. Conn. 2008).  “If an advertisement makes a claim 

expressly, then extrinsic evidence is not necessary.” 
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weight loss.  So we decided to put these products to the test.  What better way to find 

out the truth than to conduct our own study?”  The article then goes on to describe a 

week-by-week analysis of the reporter’s results in using LeanSpa products, and 

concludes, “After conducting our own personal study we are pleased to see that people 

really are finding success with it (myself included :) ).” 

 Thus, the fake news page format expressly claims that a reporter is conducting 

independent tests of the products.  Because this claim is expressly made and, as a 

result, is clear from the face of the fake news format, no reasonable jury could conclude 

that the fake news sites were not ma
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(“Deception may be found based on the ‘net impression’ created by a representation.”).  

“It is . . . necessary . . . to consider the advertisement in its entirety and not to engage in 

disputatious dissection. The entire mosaic should be viewed rather than each tile 

separately.”  F.T.C. v. Sterling Drug, Inc., 317 F.2d 669, 674 (2d Cir. 1963). 

 More specifically, the Supreme Court has ruled “that it is a deceptive practice to 

state falsely that a product has received a testimonial from a respected source.”  F.T.C. 

v. Colgate-Palmolive Co., 380 U.S. 374, 389 (1965).  Indeed, deception results simply 

from the fact that “the seller has told the public that it could rely on something other than 

his word.” Id.  Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no evidence that 

testimonial-style advertising is genuine.  See F.T.C. v. Grant Connect, LLC, 827 F. 

Supp. 2d 1199, 1228 (D. Nev. 2011) (“Defendants fail to present any admissible 

evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact that any of the non-celebrity 

testimonials are genuine or accurate. FTC therefore is entitled to summary judgment on 

count six.”), aff'd in part, vacated in part on other grounds, 763 F.3d 1094 (9th Cir. 

2014).  

 Here, LeadClick admits that the “claims of independent analyses and tests, 

weight loss results, and consumer comments” were fake.  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 

”
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  2. The Misrepresentations Were Material  

 “A material misrepresentation is one that involves information that is important to 

consumers, and that is therefore likely to affect a consumer’s choice of or conduct 

regarding a product.”  Bronson Partners, LLC, 564 F. Supp. 2d at 135 (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  Courts may presume certain “types of claims to be material, 

including any express claim, or implied claims where there is evidence that the seller 

intended to make the claim.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  Underlying this 

presumption is an assumption that “the willingness of a business to promote its products 

reflects a belief that consumers are interested in the advertising.”  Id. 

 As discussed, the claim of independent investigation was made expressly, so it 

can be presumed material.  See id.  Similarly, the claim that the comments were 

provided by independent consumers is so strongly implied that it is essentially express, 

so it can also be presumed material.  LeadClick provides no evidence to rebut these 

presumptions.  Finally, and more importantly, even with the presumption of materiality 

aside, no reasonable juror could find that claims of independent testing – by consumers 

or reporters – were not important to consumers’ choice. 

 LeadClick argues that whether a claim is materially misleading is a “uniquely 

factual [inquiry] that should not be decided on summary judgment.” LC Opp. Pls.’ 

Summ. J. (Doc. No. 312) at 16.  According to LeadClick, the court should instead 

consider “whether the narrow claims asserted against [it]—namely the ‘news’ style 

format and the ‘comment section’—
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 A defendant is liable under the FTCA for its own conduct, even where that 

conduct relates in some way to the conduct of third parties.  See, e.g., F.T.C. v. Neovi, 

604 F.3d 1150 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding defendant liable for legitimizing, “creat[ing] and 

deliver[ing] checks without proper verification,” despite having “reason to believe that a 

vast number of checks were being drawn on unauthorized accounts”).  Further, “[u]nder 

the FTC Act, a principal is liable for misrepresentations made by his/her agents (i.e., 
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sees no reason why this test should apply to individual defendants but not to corporate 

entities. 

 Regarding the second element, it is undisputed that LeadClick employees knew 

that fake news sites were being used to promote LeanSpa products on the eAdvertising 

Network.  See Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 133–37.   

 Regarding the first element, participation or control in an entity’s unlawful activity 

can be shown by a defendant’s “involvement in business affairs” or “role in the 
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Indeed, “the standard contract that governed LeadClick’s relationship with its affiliates”19 

states:  

All websites, newsletters, companies, or individuals need official approval 
from eAdvertising before they can become a member of the Publisher 
Program.  Only websites and newsletter that have been reviewed and 
approved are permitted to use the programs.  eAdvertising reserves the 
right to withhold or refuse approval on any website, newsletter, company, 
or individual for any reason, whatsoever. 
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sites, to instruct them not to use such sites after hiring them, and to remove them if they 

continued to do so.  Just as LeanSpa would be liable for approving requests to 

advertise with fake news sites, LeadClick, as LeanSpa’s agent, is liable for its own 

decision to effectuate that decision.  See Restatement (Third) Of Agency § 7.01 (2006) 

(“An agent is subject to liability to a third party harmed by the agent's tortious conduct 

. . . .  [A]n actor remains subject to liability although the actor acts as an agent.”); see 

also Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶ 140 (citing PX 116) (LeadClick appears to argue 

that its affiliate manager told an affiliate that “News Style landers are totally fine” in order 

to keep LeanSpa’s offers). 

 Not only did LeadClick have the authority to control its affiliates’ web pages, it 

also participated in the deception.  For example, LeadClick purchased advertising space 

on genuine news sites and sold it to affiliates advertising with fake news sites.20  See 

Defs.’ Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 151,21 158–59.  In doing so, it provided a way for 

consumers to browse directly from a genuine news site to a fake one.  Id. ¶ 151.  

Indeed, it is clear that LeadClick knew it was creating such a bridge between genuine 

                                            
 
 20 LeadClick argues that it was unfairly surprised by this argument.  While it is true that “claims 
based new facts and new legal theories with no relation to the previously pled claims—are commonly 
rejected at the summary judgment stage 
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and fake news sites because, on some occasions, LeadClick would identify fake news 

pages “as destination pages for the banner ads when negotiating with media sellers,” 
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or user; (2) plaintiffs' claims are based on ‘information provided by another information 

content provider’; and (3) plaintiffs' claims would treat it as the ‘publisher or speaker’ of 

such information.”  F.T.C. v. LeanSpa, LLC, 920 F. Supp. 2d 270, 275 (D. Conn. 2013); 

see also F.T.C. v. Accusearch Inc., 570 F.3d 1187, 1196 (10th Cir. 2009); Universal 

Commc'n Sys., Inc. v. Lycos, Inc., 478 F.3d 413, 418 (1st Cir. 2007).  “If it fails to satisfy 

any one of three, it is not entitled to immunity.”  Accusearch, 570 F.3d at 1196.  Based 

on the undisputed facts, LeadClick fails to meet the second element as a matter of law. 

 “An interactive computer service that is also an ‘information content provider’ of 

certain content is not immune from liability arising from publication of that content.”  

Accusearch, 570 F.3d at 1197.  The CDA defines “information content provider” as “any 

person or entity that is responsible, in whole or in part, for the creation or development 

of information provided through the Internet or any other interactive computer service.”  

47 U.S.C. § 230(f)(3).  “[A] service provider is ‘responsible’ for the development of 

offensive content only if it in some way specifically encourages development of what is 

offensive about the content,”  Accusearch Inc., 570 F.3d at 1199, or “‘contributes 

materially to the alleged illegality of the conduct,” Fair Hous. Council of San Fernando 

Valley v. Roommates.Com, LLC, 521 F.3d 1157, 1168 (9th Cir. 2008).  Further, “there 

may be several information content providers with respect to a single item of information 

(each being ‘responsible,’ at least ‘in part,’ for its ‘creation or development’).”  

Accusearch Inc., 570 F.3d at 1197.   
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the service provider’s own speech.”  Universal Commc'n Sys., Inc., 478 F.3d at 420.  On 
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offending contestant videos.”  No. 3:06-CV-1710 (VLB), 2010 WL 669870, at *24 (D. 

Conn. Feb. 19, 2010). 

 No reasonable jury could deny that LeadClick was an “
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(2) monetary relief is improper absent an in
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no argument that the fake news sites were not widely disseminated.  Finally, the third 
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87 F.3d 466, 468 (11th Cir. 1996)).  Indeed, “[c]ourts have inherent equitable powers to 

grant ancillary relief . . . when there is no likelihood of recurrence.”  F.T.C. v. Evans 

Products Co., 775 F.2d 1084, 1088 (9th Cir. 1985); see also F.T.C. v. Nat'l Urological 

Grp., Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1211 n.27 (N.D. Ga. 2008) (“Even if the primary 

injunctive relief is not requested, the court is still entitled to grant other equitable 

remedies.”) aff'd, 356 Fed. App'x 358 (11th Cir. 2009); In re Evans Products Co., 60 

B.R. 863, 867 (S.D. Fla. 1986) (“[T]he district court's power under § 13(b) to exercise 

the full range of equitable remedies, including rescission and restitution, is not 

diminished by the fact that primary injunctive relief might not be granted.”).24 
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Bronson Partners, LLC, 654 F.3d at 
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 Because the court grants summary judgment for the plaintiffs as to the 

LeadClick’s conduct, the funds that CoreLogic received from LeadClick are, as a matter 

of law, ill-gotten.  Thus, the first element has been established as a matter of law. 

 The second element – whether CoreLogic has a legitimate claim to the funds – 

presents a more difficult question.  As stated
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Founding Partners Capital Mgmt., 639 F. Supp. 2d 1291, 1294 (M.D. Fla. 2009) (“There 

has been a debtor-creditor relationship between Sun Capital and Stable–Value based 

on written agreements since 2001. This constitutes a sufficient legitimate ownership 

interest to preclude treating Sun Capital as a relief defendant.”); S.E.C. v. Better Life 

Club of Am., Inc., 995 F. Supp. 167, 182 (D.D.C. 1998) (“[T]here was never any actual 

loan agreement between Lawson and Taylor, and therefore there is no evidence that 

the gift was anything but gratuitous. For this reason, there are no material questions of 

fact as to this issue, and the $7500 given to Lawson is subject to disgorgement.”), aff'd 

sub nom. U.S. S.E.C. v. Better Life Club of Am., Inc., 203 F.3d 54 (D.C. Cir. 1999). 

 Moreover, ownership itself does not create a legitimate claim to the proceeds of 

an owned entity if those proceeds originally come from unlawful activity.  See S.E.C. v. 

Aragon Capital Advisors, LLC,, No. 07-CV-919 FM, 2011 WL 3278907, at *19–21 

(S.D.N.Y. July 26, 2011) (“[A] debtor-creditor relationship constitute[s] a sufficient 

legitimate ownership interest in the CD proceeds.  In contrast, in this case the [relief 

defendants] made equity contributions to Aragon, not loans, and therefore were not 

creditors of the partnership.” (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)); cf. S.E.C. 

v. AIC, Inc., No. 3:11-CV-176, 2013 WL 5134411, at *17 (E.D. Tenn. Sept. 12, 2013) 

(“[I]t would be inappropriate to allow those who violate the securities laws to retain the 

benefit of their fraudulent acts by transferring the funds to a subsidiary or subsidiaries, 

which in turn generate revenue for the parent through legitimate means.”).  Therefore, if 

CoreLogic’s advances to LeadClick were essentially investments made in the hopes of 

future returns – and its collection of revenue from LeadClick is essentially return on that 

investment – then CoreLogic does not have a legitimate claim to the $4 million transfer 
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of funds from LeadClick.  Conversely, if CoreLogic’s advances were bona fide loans, 

then CoreLogic does have such a legitimate claim. 

 This issue has not been discussed extensively in the context of relief defendant 
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CoreLogic does not dispute the following:  “there was no agreed upon repayment 

schedule or repayment deadline, no security for those advances, no written loan 
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 The court disagrees.  LeadClick deposited the $4.1 million in a bank account that 

it owned and, on the same day, CoreLogic’s cash management system automatically 

swept that money, first into a CLUSI bank account and then immediately into a 

CoreLogic account.  See FTC Rule 56(a)2 Statement ¶¶ 1–3; see also CL Mem. Supp. 

Summ. J. 33.  The funds transferred from LeadClick were not used to pay down the 

promissory note.  See CL Mem. Supp. Summ. J. 33; CL Reply (Doc. No. 319) at 4; see 

also PX 71, Balas Dep. 81:25–84:18 (noting that the last payment on the promissory 

note was in August 2010).  Notably, it was CoreLogic’s system that was controlling the 

destination of the money and that caused the transfer from LeadClick.  See FTC Rule 

56(a)2 Statement ¶ 3 (“Through CoreLogic’s cash management system, [funds] from 
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V. CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the court: (1) GRANTS the plaintiffs’ Motion for 

Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 292); (2) DENIES LeadClick’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment (Doc. No. 294); (3) DENIES CoreLogic’s Motion for Summary Judgment 

(Doc. No. 299); (4) TERMINATES the defendants’ Motion in Limine (Doc. No. 290) as 

moot; and GRANTS the defendants’ Motion for Leave to File a Response (Doc. No. 

329). 

SO ORDERED. 

Dated at New Haven, Connecticut, this 5th day of March, 2015.  

       
 
      /s/ Janet C. Hall   
      Janet C. Hall 
      United States District Judge 
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